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BANK OF THE BAHAMAS LIMITED 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 
June 30, 2019, with corresponding figures for 2018 
(Expressed in Bahamian Dollars) 
 

Notes 2019 2018

ASSETS
   Cash and account with the Central Bank 5, 24 69,524,170$               123,537,932$            
   Cash equivalent - Treasury Bills 5, 24 49,917,360                 56,726,814                
   Due from banks 5 61,686,033                 43,678,603                
   Investment securities 6, 24 100,809,968               64,521,278                
   Loans and advances to customers, net 7, 24 344,181,094               351,489,088              
   Investment property 8 6,463,000                   6,463,000                  

Other assets 9, 24 10,682,478                 16,093,374                
   Property and equipment, net 10 4,768,982                   3,086,108                  
   Computer software, net 11 2,453,615                   898,026                     
   Note receivable 12, 24 167,626,500               167,700,000              
TOTAL ASSETS 818,113,200$             834,194,223$            

LIABILITIES
   Deposits from customers and banks 13, 24 615,852,515$             628,405,812$            
   Other liabilities 14, 24 35,265,030                 22,482,469                
   Deferred loan fees 24 5,480,315                   5,456,923                  
   Total liabilities 656,597,860               656,345,204              

EQUITY
  Share capital 15 42,610,505                 57,860,505                
  Share premium 15 81,950,384                 81,950,384                
  Treasury shares 16 (1,318,224)                  (1,318,224)                 
  Reserves 17 2,512,459                   6,133,678                  
  Special retained earnings 12 172,122,932               172,122,932              
  Accumulated deficit (136,362,716)              (138,900,256)             
  Total equity 161,515,340               177,849,019              

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 818,113,200$             834,194,223$            
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BANK OF THE BAHAMAS LIMITED 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
Year ended June 30, 2019, with corresponding figures for 2018 
(Expressed in Bahamian Dollars) 
 

Notes 2019 2018

Interest and similar income 18, 24 36,321,639$               37,127,920$              
Interest and similar expense 18, 24 (8,125,743)                  (9,206,684)                 
Net interest income 28,195,896                 27,921,236                

Fees and commission income 19, 24 8,397,147                   8,152,375                  
Fees and commission expense (474,111)                     (447,115)                    
Net fees and commission income 7,923,036                   7,705,260                  

Other operating income 20 4,624,519                   3,225,543                  
Total operating income 40,743,451                 38,852,039                

Credit loss expense, net 7 (1,723,287)                  (7,568,185)                 
Net operating income 39,020,164                 31,283,854                
Operating expenses 21, 24 (36,109,905)                (29,685,788)               
Net income 2,910,259                   1,598,066                  

Other comprehensive income

Movement in fair value: equity investments at FVOCI 6, 17 378,781                      992,948                     

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,289,040$                 2,591,014$                

Earnings per share
  Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share 27 (0.01)$                         0.04$                         

 
The notes on pages 9 – 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BANK OF THE BAHAMAS LIMITED 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
 
Year ended June 30, 2019, with corresponding figures for 2018 
(Expressed in Bahamian Dollars) 
 

Special
Share Share Treasury Retained Accumulated Total

Capital Premium Shares Reserves Earnings Deficit Equity
Balance, June 30, 2017 64,010,505$     81,950,384$          (1,318,224)$    5,140,730$          54,622,532$     (140,498,322)$     63,907,605$          
Total comprehensive income:
   Net income for the year -                   -                         -                  -                       -                    1,598,066            1,598,066              
Other comprehensive income:
   Net gain on available-for-sale
   financial assets (Note 17) -                   -                         -                  992,948               -                    -                       992,948                 
Transactions with owners of the Bank:
   Special retained earnings
          (Note 12) -                   -                         -                  -                       117,500,400     -                       117,500,400          
   Redemption of preference 
    shares (Note 15) (6,150,000)       -                         -                  -                       -                    -                       (6,150,000)             
Balance, June 30, 2018 57,860,505       81,950,384            (1,318,224)      6,133,678            172,122,932     (138,900,256)       177,849,019          
IFRS 9 Adjustments -                   -                         -                  (4,000,000)           -                    2,808,333            (1,191,667)             
Total comprehensive income: -                             
   Net income for the year -                   -                         -                  -                       -                    2,910,259            2,910,259              
Other comprehensive income:
    Movement in fair value: equity 
    investments at FVOCI (Note 17) -                   -                         -                  378,781               -                    -                       378,781                 
Transactions with owners of the Bank:
   Redemption of preference 
    shares (Note 15) (15,250,000)     -                         -                  -                       -                    -                       (15,250,000)           
Dividends on preference shares (Note 27) -                   -                         -                  -                       (3,181,052)           (3,181,052)             
Balance, June 30, 2019 42,610,505$     81,950,384$          (1,318,224)$    2,512,459$          172,122,932     (136,362,716)$     161,515,340$        

 
The notes on pages 9 – 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BANK OF THE BAHAMAS LIMITED 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended June 30, 2019, with corresponding figures for 2018 
(Expressed in Bahamian Dollars) 

Notes 2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities:
   Net income 2,910,259$                 1,598,066$                
   Adjustments for:
     Depreciation and amortisation 21 703,314                      1,382,088                  
     Loss/(gain) on disposal of fixed assets 10 3,937                          (1,617)                        
     Loss on disposal of computer software 11 11,164                        -                             
     Net provision for loan losses 7 1,723,287                   7,568,185                  

5,351,961                   10,546,722                
   Change in operating assets and liabilities 20,219,276                 (8,537,653)                 
   Decrease in loans and advances to customers, net 4,493,039                   38,868,041                
   Decrease in deposits from customers and banks (12,553,297)                (35,497,895)               
          Net cash provided by operating activities 17,510,979                 5,379,215                  

Cash flows from investing activities:
   Acquisition of property and equipment 10 (2,078,331)                  (1,170,165)                 

Acquisition of computer software 11 (1,878,547)                  (139,816)                    
   Purchase of investment securities 6 (48,503,800)                (25,444,812)               
   Proceeds from sale of non current asset held for sale -                              925,000                     
   Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 10 -                              28,300                       
   Proceeds from maturity of investment securities 6 12,659,500                 3,309,000                  
          Net cash used in investing activities (39,801,178)                (22,492,493)               

Cash flows from financing activities:                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
   Redemption of notes receivable 12 -                              100,000,000              
   Redemption of preference shares 15 (15,250,000)                (6,150,000)                 
   Dividends on preference shares 27 (3,181,052)                  -                             
          Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (18,431,052)                93,850,000                

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (40,721,251)                76,736,722                
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 198,201,124               121,464,402              
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 5 157,479,873$             198,201,124$            

Supplemental information:
  Interest received 45,792,037$               32,569,699$              
  Interest paid 8,114,784                   9,587,634                  

Non-cash transactions:
  Derecognition of loans and advances, net 12 -$                            50,199,600$              
  Recognition of notes receivable 12 -                              167,700,000              
  Special retained earnings 12 -                              117,500,400              

 
The notes on pages 9 – 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Corporate information 

Bank of The Bahamas Limited (the “Bank”), is incorporated under the laws of The 
Commonwealth of The Bahamas, and is licensed by the Central Bank of the Bahamas to 
carry out banking business in The Bahamas under the provisions of the Banks and Trust 
Companies Regulations Act, 2000.  The Bank is also licensed as an authorized dealer, 
pursuant to the Exchange Control Regulations Act, and is the holder of a broker dealer 
license from the Securities Commission of The Bahamas.  

The Bank’s shares are publicly traded and listed on The Bahamas International Securities 
Exchange.   As at June 30, 2019 and 2018, The Government of the Commonwealth of The 
Bahamas (the “Government”) and The National Insurance Board (“NIB”) owned 
approximately 82.6% of the issued common shares.  The remaining common shares are 
owned by approximately 3,000 Bahamian shareholders.   

The Bank’s head office is located at Claughton House, corner of Shirley Street and Charlotte 
Street, Nassau, The Bahamas.  The registered office is located at Sassoon House, corner of 
Shirley Street and Victoria Avenue, Nassau, The Bahamas. 

The Bank’s services include the provision of commercial and retail banking and trust services 
(Note 26), private banking and the issuance of Visa branded stored value, prepaid and credit 
cards.  The Bank is an agent for American Express and for MoneyGram.  As at June 30, 
2019, the Bank had twelve branches (2018: twelve): four in New Providence, one in Grand 
Bahama, two in Andros, one in San Salvador, one in Inagua, one in Cat Island, one in 
Eleuthera, and one in Bimini.   

 
2. Basis of preparation 

The Bank’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). This is the first set of the Bank’s annual consolidated 
financial statements in which IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers have been applied. Changes to significant accounting policies are 
described in Note 2(d). 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Bahamian Dollars, which is the 
Bank’s functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest dollar, except 
when otherwise indicated.  

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its 
judgment in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to estimates are recognized prospectively. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued)  

(a) Going concern 

The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. The Bank experienced significant operating losses for several years prior 
to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 and has an accumulated deficit at June 30, 2019 of 
$136,362,716 (2018: $138,900,256).     

Management implemented a strategic plan to sustain the operations and financial viability 
of the Bank that will support the Bank’s continuing ability to operate as a going concern.  

(b) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and 
its subsidiaries (Note 31) as at June 30, 2019 and 2018.  

1. Subsidiaries 

‘Subsidiaries’ are entities controlled by the Bank. The Bank ‘controls’ an entity if it is 
exposed to, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity investee 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Specifically, the Bank controls an investee if and only if the Bank has: 
• Power over the investee, namely, existing rights that give it the current ability to 

direct the relevant activities of the investee 
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 
Bank considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over an investee, including: 
• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
• The Bank’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

The Bank re-assesses whether it has control if there are changes to one or more of the 
elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Bank obtains control 
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Bank loses control of the subsidiary. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries are eliminated in full on consolidation.  

When the bank loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of 
the subsidiary, and any Non-Controlling Interest (NCI) and other components of equity. 
Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the 
former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control 
ceases. 
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2.  Basis of preparation (continued)  

 (c) New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Bank  

Standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards that became effective 
for the Bank’s fiscal year beginning on July 1, 2018 are discussed in Note 2(d).   

New Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted by the Bank 
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and earlier application is permitted; however, the 
Bank has not early adopted them in preparing these consolidated financial statements.  
 
With the exception of IFRS 16 Leases (IFRS 16) and IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 
17) the application of new standards and amendments and interpretations to existing 
standards that have been published but are not yet effective are not expected to have a 
material impact on the Bank’s accounting policies or consolidated financial statements in 
the financial period of initial application. 
 
IFRS 16 results in lessees accounting for most leases within the scope of the standard in a 
manner similar to the way in which finance leases are currently accounted for under IAS 
17 Leases (IAS 17). Lessees will recognise a ' right of use' asset and a corresponding 
financial liability on the statement of financial position. The asset will be amortised over 
the length of the lease and the financial liability measured at amortised cost. Lessor 
accounting remains substantially the same as in IAS 17. The Bank has not yet assessed 
the full impact of adopting IFRS 16, which is effective for the Bank’s fiscal year 
beginning July 1, 2019. 
 
IFRS 17 was issued in May 2017. Whereas the current standard, IFRS 4, allows insurers 
to use their local GAAP, IFRS 17 defines clear and consistent rules that will significantly 
increase the comparability of financial statements. For insurers, the transition to IFRS 17 
will have an impact on financial statements and on key performance indicators. The new 
standard is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021. The Bank 
has not yet assessed the full impact of adopting IFRS 17. 

 

 



BANK OF THE BAHAMAS LIMITED 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued)  

(d) Changes in significant accounting policies 
Effective July 1, 2018, the Bank adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) and 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”). Due to the transition 
methods chosen by the Bank in applying these standards, comparative information 
throughout these consolidated financial statements have not been restated.  
 
i. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  
 
IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial 
liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The requirements of IFRS 
9 represent a significant change from IAS 39. The new standard brings fundamental 
changes to the accounting for financial assets and to certain aspects of the accounting for 
financial liabilities.  
 
As a result of IFRS 9, the Bank also adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 7 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures that are applied to disclosures for fiscal 2019, but 
have not been applied to comparative information.  
 
As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Bank elected not to restate 
comparative figures. Any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
liabilities at the date of transition were recognized in the opening retained earnings.  
 
The impact of the transition to IFRS 9 on opening retained earnings and provision for 
loan losses is disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and Note 7, 
respectively. The impact of the transition amounts to approximately $1.2 million. 
 
The key changes to the Bank’s accounting policies resulting from its adoption of IFRS 9 
are summarised below. 
 
Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities  
 
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets:  measured at 
amortized cost; fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”); or fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). IFRS 9 classification is generally based on the 
business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flows. IFRS 
9 eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories of held-to-maturity, loans and receivables 
and available-for-sale.  
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

     (d) Changes in significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
i. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities. Although under IAS 39 all fair value changes of 
liabilities designated under the fair value option were recognized in profit or loss, under 
IFRS 9 fair value changes are generally presented as follows: 

- The amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit 
risk of the liability is presented in OCI; and 

- The remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in profit or loss. 
 
Reconciliation of financial assets and financial liabilities from IAS 39 to IFRS 9  
 
The table below explains the original measurement categories under IAS 39 and the new 
measurement categories under IFRS 9 for the applicable classes of the Bank’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities as at July 1, 2018. 
 

New 
classification 
under IFRS 9

New carrying 
amount under 

IFRS 9
Original classification 

under IAS 39

Original carrying 
amount under 

IAS 39
Financial Assets
Cash and account with the Central Bank Amortised cost 123,537,932       Loans and receivables 123,537,932         
Cash equivalent - Treasury Bills Amortised cost 56,726,814         Loans and receivables 56,726,814           
Due from banks Amortised cost 43,678,603         Loans and receivables 43,678,603           
Investment securities Amortised cost 62,448,500         Held-to-maturity 62,475,000           
Investment securities FVOCI 2,046,278           Available-for-sale 2,046,278             
Loans and advances to customers, net Amortised cost 350,397,421       Loans and receivables 351,489,088         
Notes receivable Amortised cost 167,626,500       Loans and receivables 167,700,000         

Financial Liabilities

Deposits from customers and banks 
Other financial 
liabilities 628,405,812       

Other financial 
liabilities 628,405,812         

 
The remeasurement relative to loans and advances to customers is the remeasurement 
associated with expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

      (d) Changes in significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
i. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance IAS 39 to IFRS 9  
 
The following table reconciles the prior period’s closing impairment allowance balance 
under IAS 39 to IFRS 9 at July 1, 2018. 
 

IAS 39 allowance 
balance Reclassifications Remeasurements IFRS 9 allowance 

balance

Financial Assets
Investment securities (Note 6) -                              -                           26,500                      26,500                       
Loans and advances to customers (Note 7) 65,649,984                 -                           1,091,667                 66,741,651                
Notes receivable (Note 12) -                              -                           73,500                      73,500                       

 
Impairment of financial assets  
 
IFRS 9 replaces the 'incurred loss' model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model. 
The new impairment model also applies to certain loan commitments and financial 
guarantee contracts but not to equity investments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are 
recognised earlier than under IAS 39.   
 
IFRS 9 recognises impairment in three stages as discussed in Note 2 (d). Because 
movements between stages are expected to be dynamic, and also considering the 
application of forward-looking information, impairment allowances are expected 
to be more volatile under IFRS 9 than IAS 39.  
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

     (d) Changes in significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
ii. IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  
 
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and 
when revenue is recognised. It replaced IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts 
and related interpretations. 
 
The principal objective of IFRS 15 is to establish the principles that should be applied 
by an entity in order to report useful information to users of financial statements 
about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising 
from contracts with customers. 
 
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers, reflecting the amount of 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
and services. 
 
IFRS 15 explicitly excludes from its scope transactions governed by IFRS 9. The 
following are in scope for the Bank:  

• Deposit services fees and commission 
• Card services fees and commission 
• Cedit services fees and commission 
• Other fees and commission 

 
The Bank’s non-IFRS 9 related contracts with customers are not complex and meet the 
criteria for recognition of revenue over time, the application of IFRS 15 had no material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
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3. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty  

Certain amounts included in or affecting the consolidated financial statements and related 
disclosures must be estimated, requiring management to make assumptions with respect to 
values or conditions that cannot be known with certainty at the time the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared.  A “critical accounting estimate” is one that is both 
important to the presentation of the Bank’s financial position and results of operations and 
requires management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often because of the 
need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.  Uncertainty 
about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities affected in future periods.  

Management evaluates such estimates on an ongoing basis based upon historical results and 
experience, consultation with experts, trends and other methods considered reasonable in the 
particular circumstances. 

Applicable to fiscal year 2019: 

Classification of financial assets 

Assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and assessment of whether 
the contractual terms of the financial asset are solely payment of principal and interest 
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.  

Impairment of financial assets 
The allowance for loan impairment represents management's estimate of an asset's 
expected credit loss ("ECL''). 
 
The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets is an area that requires the 
use of complex models and significant assumptions about the future economic 
conditions and credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the 
resulting losses). 
 
ECL is defined as the weighted expected probable value of the discounted credit loss 
(principal and interest) determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes and 
future economic conditions. It represents the present value of the difference between the 
contractual cash flows and the expected cash flows (including principal and interest). 
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3. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

Applicable to fiscal year 2019: (continued) 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
The process for determining the allowance involves significant quantitative and 
qualitative assessments. Particularly, a number of significant judgments is also required 
in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as: 
 

i. Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 
ii. Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 

iii. Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for 
each type of product/market and the associated ECL; 

iv. Assessing the risk rating and impaired status of loans; 
v. Estimating cash flows and realisable collateral values; 

vi. Developing default and loss rates based on historical data; 
vii. Estimating the impact on this historical data by changes in policies, processes and 

credit strategies; 
viii. Assessing the current credit quality based on credit quality trends; and 

ix. Determining the current position in the economic cycle. 
 
Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is 
further detailed in Note 30.  

Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, determining methodology for incorporating 
forward-looking information into measurement of ECL and selection and approval of models 
used to measure ECL. 
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3. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

Applicable to fiscal years 2019 and 2018: 

Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are tested for impairment when circumstances indicate there may be 
a potential impairment.  Changes in circumstances and management’s evaluations and 
assumptions may give rise to impairment losses in the relevant future periods.  During the 
year ended June 30, 2019, the Bank recognized impairment losses of Nil (2018: Nil Note 10). 

Depreciation and amortisation 

Depreciation and amortisation are based on management estimates of the future useful lives 
of property and equipment and intangible assets.  Estimates may change due to technological 
developments, competition, changes in market conditions and other factors and may result in 
changes in the estimated useful lives and in the amortisation or depreciation charges.  The 
Bank reviews the future useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets 
periodically taking into consideration the factors mentioned above and all other important 
factors.   

Estimated useful lives for similar types of assets may vary due to factors such as growth rate, 
maturity of the market, history and expectations for replacements or transfer of assets, and 
climate, among others.  In case of significant changes in the estimated useful lives, 
depreciation and amortisation charges are adjusted prospectively.   

Deferred loan fees 

Commitment fees received to originate a loan or fees that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate of a financial instrument, together with the related transaction cost, are deferred 
and recognised as an adjustment of the effective interest rate.  Management manually 
amortises the loan commitment fees using the effective interest rate method over the average 
loan terms.  

Fair value of financial instruments  

IFRS 13 requires that the classification of financial instruments at fair value be determined by 
reference to the source of inputs used to derive the fair value. This classification uses three-
level hierarchy as discussed in Note 28. 

Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies 

Management uses key assumptions about the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of 
resources to determine adequate provisions or disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) Revenue and expense recognition 

Policy applicable from July 1, 2018 
Interest income and expense are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income using the effective interest method. The ‘effective interest 
method’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:  

- The gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 
- The amortised cost of the financial liability. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transactions costs and fees received 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate of a 
financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset 
or financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate 
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaied) 
or to the amortised cost of the liability.  
 
Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on 
a financial asset or financial liability are included in the effective interest rate. Other fee 
and commission income is recognized as the related services are performed. Other fee 
and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are 
expenses as the services are received. 

Accounting policies applied until June 30, 2018: 

Interest and similar income and expense 

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income or expense was 
recorded at the effective interest rate.  The calculation of amortised costs took into 
account all contractual terms of the financial instrument and included all fees or 
incremental costs that were directly attributable to the instrument.  The carrying amount 
of the financial asset or financial liability was adjusted if the Bank revised its estimates of 
payments or receipts.  The adjusted carrying amount was calculated based on the original 
effective interest rate and the change in carrying amount was recorded as interest income 
or expense. 

Fees and commission income 

The Bank earned fees and commission income from a diverse range of services it provided 
to its customers.  Fees and commissions were generally recognised on an accrual basis 
when the service  was provided.  

Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time  

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time were accrued over that 
period. Those fees included commission income and asset management, custody and 
other management and advisory fees. Loan commitment fees and other credit related fees 
were deferred (together with any incremental costs) and recognised as an adjustment to 
the effective interest rate on the loan.   



BANK OF THE BAHAMAS LIMITED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended June 30, 2019  
(Expressed in Bahamian Dollars) 
 
 

20 

4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(a)  Revenue and expense recognition (continued) 

Fee income from providing transaction services 

Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a 
third party, such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the 
purchase or sale of businesses, were recognised on completion of the underlying 
transaction.  Fees or components of fees that were linked to a certain performance were 
recognised after fulfilling the corresponding criteria. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 

For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise balances with less than three months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, 
including cash with The Central Bank of The Bahamas, amounts due from other banks, 
and short-term treasury bills. 

(c) Financial instruments 

Recognition and initial measurement 

The Bank initially recognizes loans and advances and deposits on the date on which they 
are originated. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales 
of financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item 
not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.   

Classification  

Financial assets – policy applicable from July 1, 2018:  

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, 
FVOCI or FVTPL.  

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:  

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 
contractual cash flows; and  

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are SPPI.  

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions 
and is not designated as at FVTPL:  

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and  

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are SPPI. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c)  Financial instruments (continued) 

Recognition and initial measurement (continued) 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is 
made on an investment-by-investment basis.  

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.  

In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset 
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at 
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that 
would otherwise arise. 

Business model assessment  

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is 
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and 
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:  

- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies 
in practice. In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning 
contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching 
the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding 
those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;  

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank’s 
management;  
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

       (c) Financial instruments (continued) 

Business model assessment (continued) 

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets 
held within that business model) and its strategy for how those risks are managed; 

- how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based 
on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and 

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales 
and its expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales 
activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the 
Bank’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash 
flows are realised.  

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated 
on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect 
contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial 
assets.  

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial 
asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of 
money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a 
particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and 
administrative costs), as well as profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Bank considers the 
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset 
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash 
flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Bank 
considers: 

- contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;  

- leverage features;  

- prepayment and extension terms;  

- terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-
recourse loans); and  

- features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of 
interest rates).  
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

       (c) Financial instruments (continued) 

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest (continued) 

The Bank holds a portfolio of long-term fixed-rate loans for which the Bank has the 
option to propose to revise the interest rate at periodic reset dates. These reset rights are 
limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The borrowers have an option to either 
accept the revised rate or redeem the loan at par without penalty. The Bank has 
determined that the contractual cash flows of these loans are SPPI because the option 
varies the interest rate in a way that is consideration for the time value of money, credit 
risk, other basic lending risks and costs associated with the principal amount outstanding.  

Reclassifications  

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the 
period after the Bank changes its business model for managing financial assets. 
Modification  

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Bank evaluates whether the cash flows 
of the modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially 
different, then contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are 
deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a 
new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees 
received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:  

• fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that 
represent reimbursement of the eligible transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the asset; and  

• other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.  

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the 
objective of the modification is usually to maximize recovery of the original contractual 
terms rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different terms. If the Bank 
plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, 
then it first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the 
modification takes place. This approach impacts the result of quantitative evaluation and 
means that the derecognition criteria are usually not met in such cases. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

       (c) Financial instruments (continued) 

Accounting policies applied until June 30, 2018: 
 
The Bank classified its financial assets into one of the following categories: Loans and 
receivables; 

- Held-to-maturity; 
- Available-for-sale; and 
- At FVTPL, and within this category as: 

o Held-for-trading; or 
o Designated as at FVTPL. 

All financial assets and liabilities were initially recognised on the trade date, that is, the 
date that the Bank became a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This 
included ‘regular way trades’: purchases or sales of financial assets that required delivery 
of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the 
market place.  The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on 
their purpose and characteristics and management’s intention in acquiring them. All 
financial instruments were measured initially at their fair value plus transaction costs, 
except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

Financial assets 
The Bank classified its financial assets in the following categories: Loans and 
receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and available-for-sale investments. 
Management determined the classification of its investments at initial recognition. 

(i) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables were non-derivative financial assets that had fixed or 
determinable payments that were not quoted in an active market, other than those 
that the Bank upon initial recognition designated as available-for-sale; or those for 
which the holder may not have recovered substantially all of its initial investment, 
other than because of credit deterioration. After initial measurement, such financial 
assets were subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate (“EIR”) method, less impairment. Loans and receivables included balances due 
from banks, loans and advances, notes receivable and other assets. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Financial instruments (continued)  
 

(ii) Held-to-maturity financial assets 

Held-to-maturity investments were non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Bank’s management had the 
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the Bank were to sell other than 
an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category was  
reclassified as available for sale. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity 
investments were measured at amortised cost using the EIR method, less 
impairment. Gains and losses were recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income when the investments were derecognised or impaired, as 
well as through the amortisation process. Held-to-maturity financial assets included 
designated investment securities. 

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale investments were those intended to be held for an indefinite 
period of time, which sometimes had the potential of being sold in response to 
needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.  
After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial assets were measured at fair 
value with unrealized gains or losses recognised directly in equity until the 
investment was derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss recorded in 
equity was recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, or 
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative loss recorded in equity 
was recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  

Financial liabilities 

There were no changes in the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. IFRS 9 
largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities. Financial liabilities are classified as either a) FVTPL or b) other 
financial liabilities. 

The Bank’s financial liabilities include deposits from customers and banks, and other 
liabilities. Deposits from customers and banks represent demand and time deposits placed 
with the Bank for the benefit of third parties, except as disclosed in Note 24.  
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(d) Impairment of financial assets 

Policy applicable from July 1, 2018 

The Bank recognises loss allowance for ECL on financial assets measured at amortised 
cost and measures impairment losses at amount equal to 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL 
depending on the stage in which the asset is classified. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that 
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial asset. 12-
month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible 
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of 
the instrument is less than 12 months). The maximum period considered when estimating 
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Bank is exposed to credit risk.  

Impairment of financial assets is recognised in three stages:  

Stage 1 – When a financial asset is originated, ECLs resulting from default events that 
are possible within the next 12 months are recognised and a loss allowance is established. 
On subsequent reporting dates, 12-month ECL also applies to existing financial assets 
with no significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition.  

Stage 2 - If the credit quality subsequently significantly deteriorates for a particular 
portfolio or transaction, the Bank recognises the full lifetime expected credit losses.  

Stage 3 - At a later date, once one or more default events have occurred on the 
transaction or on a counterparty resulting in an adverse effect on the estimated future cash 
flows, the Bank recognises the full lifetime expected credit losses. At this stage, the 
financial asset is credit-impaired.  

In determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial 
recognition, and when estimating ECLs, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical 
experience and informed credit assessment and forward-looking information.  

The assessment of whether an asset is in stage 1 or 2 considers the relative change in the 
probability of default occurring over the expected life of the instrument and is not 
assessed based on the change in the amount of the expected credit losses. This involves 
setting quantitative tests combined with additional indicators such as credit risk 
classification and other observable inputs. Assets that are more than 30 days past due, but 
not credit-impaired, are classed as stage 2.  

Changes in credit loss, including the impact of movements between the first stage (12 
month expected credit losses) and the second stage (lifetime expected credit losses), are 
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

IFRS 9 requires the use of more forward-looking information including reasonable and 
supportable forecasts of future economic conditions. The requirement to consider a range 
of economic scenarios and their possible impact on impairment allowances is a subjective 
feature of the IFRS 9 ECL model. The Bank continues to develop its capability to model 
a number of economic scenarios and capture the impact on credit losses to ensure the 
overall ECL represents a reasonable distribution of economic outcomes. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

The application of IFRS 9 does not alter the current definition of default currently used to 
determine whether or not there is objective evidence of impairment of a financial asset.  

The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when:  

– The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full, without 
recourse by the Bank through actions such as realising security (if any held);  

– The financial asset is more than 90 days past due; or  

– The borrower is on principal only repayment terms.  

Impairment losses for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the 
gross carrying amount of assets. 

Write-off of loans and advances  

A loan (and the related impairment allowance account) is normally written off, either 
partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery of the principal amount 
and, for a collateralised loan, when the proceeds from realising the security have been 
received. Consumer installment and credit card loans are written-off after principal and/or 
interest payments become 270 days and 180 days contractually in arrears, respectively.  

Recovery of previously written-off loans  

Recoveries of principal and/or interest on previously written off loans are recognised in 
provisions for credit losses, net in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on a cash basis or when the loan is rewritten on normal terms 
prevailing at the time of the rewrite.  

Renegotiated loans  

Loans subject to impairment assessment, whose terms have been renegotiated, are subject 
to ongoing review to determine whether they remain impaired or should be considered 
past due. The carrying amount of loans that have been classified as renegotiated retain 
this classification until maturity or derecognition. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Accounting policies applied until June 30, 2018: 

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets was impaired and impairment losses were incurred only if there was 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) had an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial 
assets that could be reliably estimated.  The criteria that the Bank used to determine that 
there was objective evidence of an impairment loss include: 

• Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest; 
• Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (for example, equity ratio, net 

income percentage of sales); 
• Breach of loan covenants or conditions; 
• Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings; 
• Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; 
• Deterioration in the value of collateral;  
• Downgrading below investment grade level; and 
• Economic conditions in The Bahamas. 

The Bank first assessed whether objective evidence of impairment existed individually 
for financial assets that were individually significant, and individually or collectively for 
financial assets that were not individually significant.  If the Bank determined that no 
objective evidence of impairment existed for an individually assessed financial asset, 
whether significant or not, it included the asset in a group of financial assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed them for impairment.   

Assets that were individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss 
was or continued to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of 
impairment. 

The amount of the loss was measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit 
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset was reduced through the use of an 
allowance account and the amount of the loss was recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.  The calculation of the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset reflected the cash flows that 
may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or 
not foreclosure was probable. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Non-accrual loans and overdrafts were identified as impaired and placed on a cash (non-
accrual) basis when it was determined that the payment of interest or principal was 
doubtful of collection, or when interest or principal was past due 90 days or more, except 
for loans that were fully secured and were in the process of collection, and loans to or 
guaranteed by The Government.  A loan was fully secured when the net realizable value 
of the collateral equaled or exceeded the principal and outstanding interest. 

A loan was considered to be in the process of collection if the collection efforts were 
reasonably expected to result in repayment of principal and interest, or restoration to 
current status. 

When a loan was identified as non-accrual, the accrual of interest was discontinued and 
any previously accrued but unpaid interest for the prior 90-day period was charged 
against current earnings.  Thereafter, interest was included in earnings only to the extent 
actually received in cash.  While accrued interest was tracked for non-accrual loans, it is 
not added to the principal nor recognised as income, but rather it was suspended. 

Cash basis loans were returned to accrual status when all contractual principal and 
interest amounts were brought current, were reasonably assured of repayment and/or 
there was a sustained period of repayment performance in accordance with contractual 
terms. 

Provision for loan losses 

Provision for loan losses represented management’s estimate of probable losses inherent 
in the loan portfolio.  The provision for loan losses was increased by charges to operating 
expenses net of recoveries. Provision for loan losses was comprised of specific and a 
collective assessment. 

The specific provision was maintained to reflect anticipated losses related to specific 
loans, or in the case of consumer loans that were not secured by real estate, on the 
aggregate portfolio.  This specific provision was established for non-consumer loans and 
consumer loans secured by real estate individually when, in management’s view, 
collection of interest and/or principal was doubtful.  The amount of specific provision 
was based on the extent to which the principal was judged to be uncollectible. 

The specific provision for an impaired collateral-dependent loan, where repayment was 
expected to be provided solely by the sale of the underlying collateral, was set at an 
amount equal to the difference between the principal balance and the estimated net 
realizable value of the collateral.  Net realizable value represents the discounted fair value 
of the collateral less all costs associated with its disposition.  For unsecured loans, the 
Bank calculated the provision by applying various factors, including the past due status of 
the loans. Because of current economic conditions in The Bahamas, secured loans were 
further assessed for provision by applying additional factors based on the past due status 
of the loans. 
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4.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Provision for loan losses (continued) 

For the purposes of a collective assessment of impairment, loans were grouped based on 
the type of loans.  Future cash flows for loans that were collectively evaluated for 
impairment were estimated based on the contractual cash flows of the loans with the 
Bank considering its historical loss experience, that is, average of actual write-offs in 
prior years for each type of loans and current observable data (e.g. unemployment rate) to 
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the 
historical loss experience was based. The Bank assigned certain weight factors in the 
historical loss experience and current observable data. 
Consumer loans that were unsecured were fully provided for when they were 
contractually in arrears more than 270 days.  All other loans were provided for when the 
following conditions existed: i) contractually in arrears; ii) underlying collateral was 
exhausted; and iii) payment was past due.  Where a loan was being provided for, the 
specific provision was increased to the principal amount and accrued interest of the loan. 
Renegotiated loans 
Where possible, the Bank sought to restructure loans rather than to take possession of 
collateral. This might have involved extending payment arrangements and the agreement 
of new loan conditions.  Once the terms were renegotiated, any impairment was 
measured using the original effective interest rate as calculated before the modification of 
terms, and the loan was no longer considered past due.  Management continually 
reviewed renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria were met and that future payments 
were likely to occur.  The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective 
impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate. 
Available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets 
For AFS financial investments, the Bank assessed at each reporting date whether there 
was objective evidence that an investment was impaired. 
In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS, the Bank assessed individually whether 
there was objective evidence of impairment based on the same criteria as financial assets 
carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment was the 
cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the 
income statement. Future interest income was based on the reduced carrying amount and 
was accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the 
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income was recorded as part of 
interest and similar income. 
For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
security below its cost was considered objective evidence of impairment. When an AFS 
financial asset was considered impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income were reclassified to profit or loss in the period. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
Available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets (continued) 

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or 
loss were not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an 
impairment loss was recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under 
the heading of net gain on AFS financial assets. 

In respect of AFS debt securities, impairment losses were subsequently reversed through 
profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment could be objectively related 
to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss. 

Held-to-maturity financial assets 

The Bank assessed individually whether objective evidence of impairment existed for 
financial assets that were individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that 
were not individually significant. If the Bank determined that no objective evidence of 
impairment existed for an individually assessed financial asset, it included the asset in a 
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed 
them for impairment. Assets that were individually assessed for impairment and for 
which an impairment loss was, or continued to be, recognised were not included in a 
collective assessment of impairment. If there was objective evidence that an impairment 
loss had been incurred, the amount of the loss was measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future expected credit losses). Interest income continues to be accrued on the 
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows 
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income was recorded as 
part of interest and similar income.  

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if in a subsequent period, the amount of 
the impairment loss decreased and the decrease could be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss was reversed through profit or loss. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities  

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognised when: 

• The contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired; or 
• The Bank has transferred its rights to receive the contractual cash flows from the 

asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without 
material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement; and either: 

- The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the financial asset, or 

- The Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has 
entered into a pass–through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, 
the asset is recognised to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement in the asset. In 
that case, the Bank also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the 
Bank has retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and 
the maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could be required to repay. 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the 
asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the 
sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new 
liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in OCI is 
recognized in profit and loss. 

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognised when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the 
carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised 
in profit or loss. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Foreign currency 

The reporting and functional currency of the Bank is the Bahamian dollar (B$). 
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted to B$ at the rates of exchange prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions.  

Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are converted to B$ at rates of exchange 
prevailing on the reporting date.  The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is 
the difference between the amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of 
the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised 
cost in the foreign currency translated at the sport exchange rate at the end of the year. 
Realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses are included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.   

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at 
historical cost or amortised cost are recorded at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of 
transaction.  

(g) Property and equipment 

Items of property and equipment (excluding the building) are stated at historical cost 
excluding day to day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.  The building is stated at estimated salvage value of $384,951 (Note 
10), with subsequent additions at cost less accumulated depreciation.  Historical costs 
include expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Purchased 
software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part 
of that equipment.   

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.  Repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognized within 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Depreciation and amortisation are calculated using the straight-line method to write down 
the cost of property and equipment less their estimated residual values using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The estimated useful lives are as 
follows: 

Building 50 years 
Leasehold improvements 3-5 years 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-10 years 

Leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of the economic useful life of the 
asset or the lease term and taking into consideration any extension of the lease term if 
there is reasonable expectation of renewal.  The amortisation term, however, does not 
exceed five years.  Land is not depreciated. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(g) Property and equipment (continued) 

Property and equipment are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from their use. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. 

(h) Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each date of the Bank reviews the carrying amount of non-financial assets to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Assets that have an indefinite useful life 
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.  An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount.   

The ‘recoverable amount’ is the greater of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use.  ‘Value in use’ is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  

For impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at 
each reporting date. 

(i) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.  Where the Bank expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The 
expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income net of any reimbursement. 

(j) Related parties 

Related parties include all Ministries and Departments of the Government, Government 
Corporations, Subsidiaries and Agencies as well as directors and key management 
personnel of the Bank.  All transactions with related parties are based on rates and terms 
used in the normal course of business, except for reduced rates for borrowings by the 
Bank’s personnel. 

(k) Employee benefits 

The Bank operates a defined contribution plan (the “Plan”) where the Bank pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity.  The Bank has no legal or constructive payment 
obligations once contributions have been paid.  The Plan’s costs are charged to general 
and administrative expenses and are funded as accrued.  
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4.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(k) Employee benefits (continued) 

The Bank operates an Employee Share Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) where the Bank 
matches employees’ share purchases up to 25%.  The matching contributions vest over 5 
years. The costs of the ESOP are charged to general administrative expenses. 

(l) Earnings/(Loss) per share 

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income/(loss) attributable 
to common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the year.   

(m) Fiduciary activities 

The Bank acts as trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or 
placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other 
institutions.  These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these 
consolidated financial statements, as they are not assets of the Bank. 

(n) Taxes 

Effective January 1, 2015, the Government implemented a value-added tax (“VAT”) in 
the Commonwealth of The Bahamas. VAT is a broad-based consumption tax that would 
be applied to most goods and services bought locally or imported into the country. Up to 
June 30, 2018, the standard rate for VAT was 7.5% and it is charged on all goods and 
services that are not zero-rated or exempt. Under the VAT Act, a business is required to 
register for and charge VAT if the past or future 12 months of taxable activity exceeds 
the $100,000 threshold. Businesses below the $100,000 threshold can choose to register 
voluntarily and will be required to fulfill all of the obligations of a Mandatory Registrant. 
All VAT registrants, including voluntary registrants, must display their VAT Certificates 
prominently, display VAT inclusive prices at the retail level, issue valid invoices and 
receipts, maintain proper accounts and records, file accurate and timely VAT returns, and 
remit the net VAT collected (output minus input VAT) to the government within the 
stipulated deadlines. The Bank is a VAT registrant and has remitted all VAT collected 
during the year to the Government within the stipulated deadlines.  

Effective July 1, 2018, the Government increased the VAT rate from 7.5% to 12%. 

(o) Investment property 

Investment property is initially measured at cost including transaction costs and 
subsequently at fair value based on an appraisal by a local real estate appraiser.  
Additions to investment property are also recorded at cost.  On an annual basis, the 
investment property is assessed for impairment with gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of the investment property included in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the period in which they arise.  The impairment 
assessment is based on fair values as determined by an independent appraisal performed 
every three years, and as determined by management in intervening years. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

     (o) Investment property (continued) 

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property (calculated as the difference between 
the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income or loss. 

When the use of property changes such that it is reclassified as Property and Equipment, 
its fair value at the date of classification becomes its cost of subsequent accounting.  

(p) Computer software 

Acquired computer software costs and licenses are capitalized based on the costs incurred 
to acquire and bring to use the specific software.  These costs are amortised using the 
straight-line basis of accounting over the expected useful life.  Software has a maximum 
expected useful life of 10 years. 

(q) Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred.  
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds 
net of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest method. 

(r)  Share capital 

(i) Share issue costs 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in 
equity as a deduction from the proceeds. 

(ii) Dividends on shares 

Dividends on common and preferred shares are recognised in equity in the period 
in which they are approved by the Bank’s Directors and Regulator. 

(iii) Treasury shares 

Where the Bank has purchased its own equity share capital, the consideration paid 
is deducted from total shareholders’ equity as treasury shares until they are 
cancelled.  Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration 
received is included in shareholders’ equity. 

(s)  Leases  

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term and included in ‘operating expenses’ in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 

 



BANK OF THE BAHAMAS LIMITED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended June 30, 2019  
(Expressed in Bahamian Dollars) 
 
 

37 

4.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(t) Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable 
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. As at June 30, 2019 and 
2018, there was no master netting agreements outstanding. Therefore, any related assets 
and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

(u) Financial guarantees 

‘Financial guarantees’ are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss that it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make 
payment when it is due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. In the ordinary 
course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, 
guarantees and acceptances.  Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements (within ‘Other liabilities’) at fair value, being the 
premium received.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each 
guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less, when 
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, and the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any 
financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee. 

Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is recorded in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The premium received is recognised in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in ‘Net fees and commission 
income’ on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. 

(v) Comparatives 

Certain corresponding figures in the prior year have been reclassified in the current 
comparative consolidated financial statements to conform with the current year’s 
presentation. 

• As of June 30, 2018, the offering costs on the preference shares in the amount of 
$584,010 have been reclassified from the preference shares capital to be shown 
on a separate line within Note 15. 

• As of June 30, 2018, a portion of the operating expenses in the amount of $82,869 
has been reclassified from other administrative expenses to the appropriate 
expense line within Note 21. 
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5. Cash and cash equivalents 

The following is an analysis of cash and cash equivalents. 
Not included in cash and cash equivalents is the statutory reserve account with The Central 
Bank of The Bahamas (“the Central Bank”) of $23,647,690 (2018: $25,742,225). Mandatory 
reserve deposits represent the Bank’s regulatory requirement to maintain a percentage of 
deposit liabilities as cash or deposits with the Central Bank.  These funds are not available to 
finance the Bank’s day-to-day operations.  All balances with The Central Bank of The 
Bahamas are non-interest bearing.  Government issued Treasury Bills have maturity dates 
extending through to September 2019.  

 

2019 2018

Cash 13,438,650$                   21,146,294$                   
Deposits with the Central Bank non-interest 
   bearing (Note 24) 56,085,520                     102,391,638                   
Cash and account with the Central Bank 69,524,170                     123,537,932                   
Cash equivalent - Treasury Bills (Note 24) 49,917,360                     56,726,814                     
Due from banks 61,686,033                     43,678,603                     
Cash, cash equivalent and due from banks (Note 30) 181,127,563                   223,943,349                   
Less: mandatory reserve deposits with the Central Bank 23,647,690                     25,742,225                     
Cash and cash equivalents 157,479,873$                 198,201,124$                 
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6. Investment securities 

Investment securities comprise equity and debt securities classified into the following 
categories:

Available-for-sale Held-to-maturity Total
Bahamas Registered Stock (Note 24) 48,884,400$                   13,454,100$                   62,338,500$               
Bridge Authority Bond (Note 24) -                                  136,500                          136,500                      
Equity Securities 2,046,278                       -                                  2,046,278                   
At June 30, 2018 50,930,678$                   13,590,600$                   64,521,278$               

FVOCI Amortised cost Total
Bahamas Registered Stock (Note 24) -$                                98,101,320$                   98,101,320$               
Equity Securities 2,735,148                       -                                  2,735,148                   
Allowance for impairment loss (Note 2) -                                  (26,500)                          (26,500)                      
At June 30, 2019 2,735,148$                     98,074,820$                   100,809,968$             
As at year end, government securities mainly comprise Bahamas Registered Stock which are 
variable rate bonds tied to the Bahamian $ Prime Rate issued by The Bahamas Government 
with interest rates ranging from 2.39% to 4.81% per annum (2018: from 2.63% to 5.50% per 
annum) and scheduled maturities between 2019 and 2035 (2018: between 2019 and 2035). 

The movements in the categories of investment securities are as follows: 

Available-for-sale Held-to-maturity Total
At July 1, 2017 27,557,918$                   13,834,600$                   41,392,518$               
Additions 25,444,812                     -                                  25,444,812                 
Maturities (3,065,000)                      (244,000)                        (3,309,000)                 
Net fair value gain (Note 17) 992,948                          -                                  992,948                      
At June 30, 2018 50,930,678$                   13,590,600$                   64,521,278$               

Available-for-sale Held-to-maturity Total
At June 30, 2018 50,930,678$                   13,590,600$                   64,521,278$               
IFRS 9 Reclassification (48,884,400)                    48,884,400                     -                              
Allowance for impairment loss (Note 2) -                                  (26,500)                          (26,500)                      

FVOCI Amortised cost Total
At July 1, 2018 2,046,278                       62,448,500                     64,494,778                 
Additions -                                  48,503,800                     48,503,800                 
Maturities -                                  (12,659,500)                   (12,659,500)               
Movement in fair value: equity investments 
   at FVOCI (Note 17) 688,870                          (310,089)                        378,781                      
Premium amortisation -                                  92,109                            92,109                        
At June 30, 2019 2,735,148$                     98,074,820$                   100,809,968$             
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7. Loans and advances to customers, net 

Loans and advances to customers are as follows: 

2019 2018

Mortgage residential loans 227,896,943$                 244,481,245$                 
Mortgage commercial loans 13,377,196                     13,937,392                     
Commercial loans 75,384,501                     77,540,327                     
Consumer loans 75,320,834                     62,989,797                     
Government (Note 24) 9,122,065                       -                                  
Credit cards 1,227,754                       1,338,235                       
Business overdrafts 1,377,502                       1,713,715                       
Personal overdrafts 504,990                          477,329                          
Government guaranteed student loans -                                  6,553,367                       

404,211,785$                 409,031,407$                 

 

Loan loss provisions are as follows: 

2019 2018
Less: Provision for loan losses
At June 30, 2018 65,649,984$                   142,599,409$                 
IFRS 9 Day 1 Loss (Note 2) 1,091,667                       -                                  
At July 1, 2018 66,741,651                     142,599,409                   
Amount written-off (6,959,004)                   (570,607)                        
Amount written-back (Note 12) -                               (83,947,003)                   
Net provision charged to expense 1,723,287                       7,568,185                       
At June 30, 2019 61,505,934                  65,649,984                  

Accrued interest receivable 1,475,243                    8,107,665                    
Loans and advances to customers, net 344,181,094$                 351,489,088$                 
 

2019 2018
Specific Provisions
Mortgage residential loans 41,357,543$                   39,681,208$                   
Mortgage commercial loans 2,744,068                       2,410,612                       
Commercial loans 9,978,390                       8,816,734                       
Consumer loans 7,134,448                       7,146,968                       
Credit and prepaid cards 291,485                          153,696                          

61,505,934                     58,209,218                     
Portfolio assessment -                                  7,440,766                       

61,505,934$                   65,649,984$                   
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7. Loans and advances to customers, net (continued) 

Included in the specific provisions on mortgage, commercial and consumer loans are specific 
provisions for certain business and personal overdrafts. 

2019 2018

Provisions as a percentage of the net loan portfolio 17.87% 18.68%

Provisions and equity reserves as a percentage of 
   the net loan portfolio 17.87% 19.82%

Provisions and equity reserves as a percentage of
   non-accrual loans 70.43% 68.52%
 

Non-accrual (impaired) loans are as follows: 

     2019 2018

Mortgage residential loans 65,980,501$                   76,325,549$                   
Mortgage commercial loans 3,301,101                       4,039,337                       
Commercial loans and overdrafts 10,848,280                     11,816,735                     
Consumer loans and overdrafts 7,149,096                       9,411,895                       
Credit cards 52,593                            54,830                            

87,331,571$                   101,648,346$                 

Percentage of loan portfolio (net) 25.37% 28.92%

Percentage of total assets 10.67% 12.20%
 
The following is an analysis of the concentration of loans and advances to customers by 
outstanding balances: 
 

2019 2018
No. of Loans No. of Loans

Value and Overdrafts Value and Overdrafts
$0             -  $     10,000 5,571,622$                   3,717                     5,753,558$                 6,342                  
$10,001     -  $     25,000 12,918,823                   762                        15,769,997                 939                     
$25,001     -  $     50,000 34,944,089                   944                        25,985,498                 708                     
$50,001     -  $   100,000 55,732,902                   813                        58,877,408                 843                     
Over             $   100,000 295,044,349                 1,152                     302,644,946               1,234                  

404,211,785$               7,388                     409,031,407$             10,066                
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7. Loans and advances to customers, net (continued) 

The following is an analysis of loans and advances by credit quality: 

2019 2018
In ($000s)

Mortgage residential loans
Neither past due nor impaired 140,475$               134,814$               
Past due but not impaired 21,441                   33,342                   
Impaired 65,981                   76,325                   

227,897$               244,481$               

Mortgage commercial loans
Neither past due nor impaired 1,906$                   1,685$                   
Past due but not impaired 8,170                     8,213                     
Impaired 3,301                     4,039                     

13,377$                 13,937$                 

Commercial loans and overdrafts
Neither past due nor impaired 64,931$                 52,997$                 
Past due but not impaired 983                        14,440                   
Impaired 10,848                   11,817                   

76,762$                 79,254$                 

Consumer, GG student loans and overdrafts
Neither past due nor impaired 63,703$                 52,892$                 
Past due but not impaired 4,974                     7,717                     
Impaired 7,149                     9,412                     

75,826$                 70,021$                 

Government
Neither past due nor impaired 9,122$                   -$                      
Past due but not impaired -                         -                        
Impaired -                         -                        

9,122$                   -$                      

Credit cards
Neither past due nor impaired 854$                      954$                      
Past due but not impaired 321                        329                        
Impaired 53                          55                          

1,228$                   1,338$                   
 
In the opinion of management, the credit quality of the majority of loans and advances to 
customers that are neither past due nor impaired is satisfactory. 
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7. Loans and advances to customers, net (continued) 
 
2019, In ($000s) Principal Restructured Total

Mortgage residential loans 169,424$             58,473$                 227,897$              
Mortgage commercial loans 4,178                   9,199                     13,377                  
Commercial loans and overdrafts 40,037                 36,725                   76,762                  
Consumer loans, GG student loans 
   and overdrafts 72,889                 2,937                     75,826                  
Government 9,122                   -                         9,122                    
Credit cards 1,228                   -                         1,228                    

296,878$             107,334$               404,212$              

2018, In ($000s) Principal Restructured Total

Mortgage residential loans 186,786$             57,695$                 244,481$              
Mortgage commercial loans 4,547                   9,390                     13,937                  
Commercial loans and overdrafts 44,757                 34,497                   79,254                  
Consumer loans, GG student loans 
   and overdrafts 66,578                 3,443                     70,021                  
Credit cards 1,338                   -                         1,338                    

304,006$             105,025$               409,031$              
 
The analysis of the age of loans and advances to customers that were past due but not 
impaired is as follows: 
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8. Investment property 

Investment Property comprises of land owned by the Bank. The land is located on West Bay 
Street, Nassau Bahamas.. 

In June 2017, the Bank engaged the services of an independent real estate and valuation 
expert who holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and who has recent 
experience in the location and category of the investment property being valued. Every three 
years, the Bank obtains an appraised report for the property. The appraised value of 
$6,463,000 was allocated to the investment property as at June 30, 2019 and 2018. 

This investment property has been classified as Level 3 in the fair value measurement 
hierarchy and there were no transfers from or to Level 3 during the period. The fair value of 
the investment property is based on the appraisal value using the sales comparison approach 
where the average sales price approximated $1,150,000 per acre. 

Under the sales comparison approach, fair value is estimated using the assumption that title to 
the property is good and marketable and clear of any or all liens or encumbrances. All 
engineering is assumed to be correct and that there are no hidden or unapparent conditions of 
the property, subsoil or structures that render it more or less valuable. It is assumed that all 
applicable zoning, regulations and restrictions have been complied with and that the 
utilization of the land and improvements is within the boundaries or property lines of the 
property described and that there is no trespass or encroachment. 

 

9. Other assets 

Other assets are comprised of the following: 

2019 2018

Accrued interest receivable on securities and note 
receivable (Notes 6 and 12) 2,709,033$                     5,590,353$                     
Prepaid assets 4,893,206                       5,083,139                       
Clearing in transit 870,100                          1,900,296                       
Accounts receivable 1,548,079                       3,032,122                       
Other assets 662,060                          487,464                          

10,682,478$                   16,093,374$                   
 

Included in other assets is the Bank’s investment in the Bahamas Automated Clearing House 
Limited in the amount of $212,944 (2018: $216,876). 
 
Included in Clearing in transit is a debit balance for USD cheque clearing of $118,621 (2018: 
$879,320) with a provision for impairment loss of $11,652 (2018: $675,306). 
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10. Property and equipment, net 

The movement in property and equipment during the year is as follows: 
 

Land and 
Building

Leasehold 
Improvements

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 

Equipment Total
Cost
Balance as at June 30, 2017 1,164,360$                6,579,880$                10,780,173$              18,524,413$              
Additions -                             78,303                       1,091,862                  1,170,165                  
Disposal -                             -                             (207,574)                    (207,574)                    
Balance as at June 30, 2018 1,164,360                  6,658,183                  11,664,461                19,487,004                
Additions -                             -                             2,078,331                  2,078,331                  
Disposal/write-off -                             (723,120)                    (664,074)                    (1,387,194)                 
Balance as at June 30, 2019 1,164,360$                5,935,063$                13,078,718$              20,178,141$              

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at June 30, 2017 734,840$                   5,938,196$                8,795,032$                15,468,068$              
Depreciation (Note 21) -                             438,480                     675,238                     1,113,718                  
Disposal -                             -                             (180,890)                    (180,890)                    
Balance as at June 30, 2018 734,840                     6,376,676                  9,289,380                  16,400,896                
Depreciation (Note 21) -                             66,742                       324,778                     391,520                     
Disposal/write-off -                             (723,120)                    (660,137)                    (1,383,257)                 
Balance as at June 30, 2019 734,840$                   5,720,298$                8,954,021$                15,409,159$              

Net book value:
Balance as at June 30, 2019 429,520$                   214,765$                   4,124,697$                4,768,982$                

Balance as at June 30, 2018 429,520$                   281,507$                   2,375,081$                3,086,108$                
 

Land in the amount of $44,565 (2018: $44,565) is included in land and building.  

Leasehold Improvements and Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment include work in progress, on 
which no depreciation has been charged, in the amount of $3,333,928 (2018: $1,547,081). 
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11. Computer software, net 

2019 2018

At beginning of year 898,026$                   1,026,580$                
Additions 1,878,547                  139,816                     
Disposal/write-off (11,164)                      -                             
Amortisation (Note 21) (311,794)                    (268,370)                    
At end of year 2,453,615$                898,026$                   

 
Computer software includes work in progress, in the amount of $1,736,063 (2018: Nil) on 
which no amortisation has been charged.  
 

12. Notes receivable and special retained earnings 

During October 2014, the Government created a special purpose vehicle, Bahamas Resolve 
Limited (“Resolve”), that is owned and controlled by the Government.  At that time, the Bank 
sold certain of its non-performing loans to Resolve, resulting in the following: 

- Non-performing loans with a face value of $100.0 million and a net book value of 
approximately $45.4 million were derecognized. 

- $100.0 million in unsecured promissory notes (the “Notes”) were received for the non-
performing loans and were recognized as an asset.  

- The net difference of approximately $54.6 million between the Notes received and the 
derecognised assets was recognized directly in equity as Special Retained Earnings and 
was considered to be a part of the Bank’s regulatory capital.  

- The Notes had a final maturity date of October 30, 2024 and bore interest at the 
Bahamian Prime rate less 0.50%, with interest payable semi-annually on the 30th day of 
April and the 30th day of October. The Government, however, redeemed $50.0 million, 
$19.0 million, $19.0 million and $12.0 million on August 31, 2017, November 30, 2017, 
February 28, 2018, and May 18, 2018, respectively. 

  
 On August 31, 2017, Resolve purchased another portfolio of loans from the Bank at a price 

equivalent to the gross book value of those loans before provisions. This transaction consists 
of three tranches, effective August 31, 2017, September 18, 2017 and November 14, 2017. 
The results are as follows:   

- A portfolio of non-performing loans principal amount of $134.5 million, with a total net 
book value of approximately $50.6 million and accrued interest receivable of $33.2 
million were derecognized.  

- $167.7 million in unsecured promissory note was received for these loans and was 
recognized as an asset.  
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12. Notes receivable and special retained earnings (continued) 

- The net difference of approximately $117.1 million between the promissory note received 
and the net book value of the derecognised assets was recognized directly in equity as 
Special Retained Earnings and is considered to be a part of the Bank’s regulatory capital. 
An additional $0.4 million in fees and charges were recognized in Special Retained 
Earnings. 

- The promissory note with final maturity date of August 31, 2022 bears fixed interest at 
3.5%, payable semi-annually on the 28th day of February and the 31st day of August, 
commencing in August 2018. As at June 30, 2019, accrued interest receivable amounts to 
$1,956,500 (2018: $4,878,391). 

The Bank has transferred all of its rights relating to the non-performing loans to Resolve and 
will have no rights to future cash flows from the non-performing loans. Resolve, and not the 
Bank, will bear all the risks and rewards of the non-performing loans subsequent to the 
transaction and Resolve, and not the Bank, will control the non-performing loans. The Bank 
will not have any continuing involvement in servicing the non-performing loans, and the 
Bank’s only rights will relate to the cash flows associated with the promissory note. Further, 
the Bank will not be providing any form of future direct or indirect financing to the customers 
and loans transferred to Resolve, and these customers will no longer be customers of the 
Bank. 

As a part of the transaction, the Bank received an irrevocable Letter of Support from the 
Government.   The Letter of Support pledged the Government’s support of Resolve to enable 
it to satisfy its obligations under the promissory note and confirms that, in the event of default 
by Resolve, the Bank can seek to recover outstanding balances from the Government. 

2019 2018

Notes receivable 167,700,000$                 167,700,000$                 
Allowance for impairment loss (Note 2) (73,500)                           -                                  

167,626,500$                 167,700,000$                 
 

13. Deposits from customers and banks 

Deposits from customers and banks are as follows: 

2019 2018

Term deposits 301,233,033$                 330,499,361$                 
Demand deposits 203,197,067                   205,350,952                   
Savings accounts 109,086,875                   90,230,918                     

613,516,975                   626,081,231                   
Accrued interest payable 2,335,540                       2,324,581                       

615,852,515$                 628,405,812$                 
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13. Deposits from customers (continued) 

The following is an analysis of the concentration of deposits from customers and banks by 
size of deposits: 

2019 2018
No. of No. of

Value Deposits Value Deposits
$0              -   $  10,000 40,170,148$                 75,064                   35,902,802$               65,488                
$10,001     -    $  25,000 27,953,019                   1,822                     25,297,001                 1,631                  
$25,001     -    $  50,000 27,213,947                   767                        23,461,125                 669                     
$50,001     -    $100,000 33,647,666                   491                        31,061,787                 459                     
Over               $100,000 484,532,195                 665                        510,358,516               634                     

613,516,975$               78,809                   626,081,231$             68,881                
 
In 1999, The Central Bank established the Deposit Insurance Corporation (the 
“Corporation”).  The Bank paid an annual premium of $183,425 (2018: $169,335) to the 
Corporation, which insures the funds of all individual Bahamian dollar depositors of the Bank 
up to a maximum of $50,000.  
 

14. Other liabilities 

Other liabilities consist of the following: 
 

2019 2018

Accounts payable (Note 22) 18,762,618$                   8,725,045$                     
Cardholders liability 5,923,796                       6,221,474                       
Cheques and other items in transit 6,965,678                       3,664,879                       
Clearing in transit 168,572                          514,778                          
Deferred revenue 160,024                          -                                  
Other liabilities 3,284,342                       3,356,293                       

35,265,030$                   22,482,469$                   
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15. Share capital 

Share capital at par value consists of the following: 

2019 2018
Authorized:
      45,000  Preference shares of 45,000,000$                   45,000,000$                   
          B$1,000 each (2018: 45,000)

105,000,000 Voting common shares of B$1 each 105,000,000                   105,000,000                   
          (2018: 105,000,000)

10,000,000 Non-voting common shares of B$1 each 10,000,000                     10,000,000                     
          (2018: 10,000,000)

160,000,000$                 160,000,000$                 

Issued and fully paid:
     Nil Preference shares of -$                                15,250,000$                   
         B$1,000 each (2018: 15,250)

36,936,549 Voting common shares of B$1 each 36,936,549                     36,936,549                     
          (2018: 36,936,549)

6,022,945 Non-voting common shares of B$1 each 6,022,945                       6,022,945                       
          (2018: 6,022,945)

Treasury shares
235,021 issued previously at B$1 each 235,021                          235,021                          

          (2018: 235,021)

Less: Cost of preference shares 584,010                          584,010                          
42,610,505$                   57,860,505$                   
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15. Share capital (continued) 

Preference shares 

The Bank’s shareholders approved resolutions to increase the authorized share capital of the 
Bank and allow the issuance of non-voting cumulative preference shares, redeemable at the 
discretion of the Board of Directors.  On June 30, 2006 and during May 7, 2009 the Bank 
issued a total of B$15,000,000 and B$20,000,000 in redeemable preference shares at a rate of 
2.00% and 2.50% above the Bahamian dollar prime rate.  In accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, the preference shares were classified as equity.  Costs totaling 
$235,010 and $349,000 related to the preference share offering respectively were netted 
against the proceeds.  

During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014 to June 30, 2017, the Bank redeemed $3,400,000 
of preference shares annually. During the year, $15,250,000 (2018: $6,150,000) of preference 
shares were redeemed. 

Voting common shares 

Effective January 2006, the Bank had a rights offering resulting in the increase in voting 
common shares from $12,000,000 to $15,600,000 and share premium from $7,589,064 to 
$28,587,866.  

On April 15, 2016, the Bank’s shareholders approved the reclassification of the authorized 
and unissued preference shares of the Bank comprising 80,000 shares having a par value of 
$1,000 per share into 80,000,000 voting common shares having a par value of $1.00 per 
share. The total authorized capital of the Bank remained unchanged at $160,000,000. 

During the period from September 6 - 12, 2016, the Bank entered into a common shares 
rights offering for an aggregate amount of $40 million for 14,814,814 voting common shares. 
For each 1.44 common shares held as at record date of September 5, 2016, shareholders had 
the right to purchase an additional 1 share. At the end of the offer period, the Government 
subscribed for the majority of the offering, and the Bank issued a total of $39,517,333 in 
voting common shares to its shareholders at a price of $2.70 per share. Costs totaling 
$482,667 related to this common share offering were netted against the proceeds and resulted 
in additional share premium of $24,702,519.  

During the period December 31, 2016 to February 28, 2017, the Bank offered a private 
placement of $30 million at 3.125% Fixed Rate Perpetual Contingent Convertible Bonds to 
accredited investors only. This private placement was offered in three tranches of $10 million 
each. As at December 31, 2016, the first tranche was subscribed by and issued to the 
Government. Effective June 30, 2017, this bond in the amount of $10 million was converted 
to 6,756,756 voting common shares at a price of $1.48 per share which resulted in additional 
share premium of $3,243,244. 
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15. Share capital (continued) 

Non-voting common shares 

During 2013, the Bank’s shareholders approved resolutions to increase the authorized share 
capital of the Bank and allow for the issuance of a separate class of B$10,000,000 non-voting 
common shares.  On June 28, 2013 the Bank issued a total of 6,022,945 Class B non-voting 
common shares to its major shareholder at a share price of $5.23.  Costs totaling $60,300 
related to this common share offering were netted against the proceeds and resulted in 
additional share premium of $25,416,755. 

16. Treasury shares 

During 2011 and 2013, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the repurchase of $750,000 
and $750,000 respectively of the Bank’s own shares.  The implementation of the share 
repurchase plan is a strategy to enhance the shareholder value to existing shareholders. There 
were no repurchase of shares during fiscal years 2019 and 2018.  

The balance in treasury shares at year end is as follows: 

No. of Shares Value

Balance as at June 30, 2019 and 2018 235,021                          1,318,224$                     
 

17. Reserves 

As at June 30, 2018, reserves were comprised of the net gain on remeasurement of available-
for-sale securities to fair value as of the reporting date and regulatory credit reserves for loan 
loss provisions. Banking regulations of the Central Bank require a general provision in 
respect of the Bank’s loans of at least 1%. In circumstances where the Central Bank 
guidelines and regulatory rules require provisions in excess of those calculated under IFRS, 
the difference is accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings and is included in a 
non-distributable regulatory credit reserve in equity. 

Effective July 1, 2018, reserves are comprised of the net gain in fair value of equity 
investments at FVOCI as of the reporting date. With the implementation of IFRS 9, banking 
regulations of the Central Bank no longer require a general provision and the excess 
provisions booked to the regulatory credit reserves were restored to retained earnings. 

Reserves were comprised of: 

2019 2018

Net gain in fair value of equity investments at FVOCI 2,512,459$                     2,133,678$                     
Regulatory credit reserves allocated from retained earnings -                                      4,000,000                       

2,512,459$                     6,133,678$                     
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17. Reserves (continued) 

Movement in reserves for the year was as follows: 

2019 2018

Balance at June 30, 2018 6,133,678$                     5,140,730$                     
IFRS 9 Adjustment (4,000,000)                      -                                  
Balance at July 1, 2018 2,133,678                       5,140,730                       
Movement in fair value: equity investments 
   at FVOCI (Note 6) 378,781                          992,948                          
Balance at June 30, 2019 2,512,459$                     6,133,678$                     
 
 

18. Net interest income 

2019 2018

Interest and similar income
Loans and advances to customers 26,143,971$           28,136,330$           
Notes receivable 5,728,944               6,360,266               
Investment securities 2,384,430               1,878,856               
Cash and short term investments 2,064,294               752,468

36,321,639             37,127,920             
Interest and similar expense
Banks and customers (8,125,743)              (9,206,684)              
Total net interest income 28,195,896$           27,921,236$           
 

19. Fees and commission income  

2019 2018

Deposit services fees and commission 3,525,744$            3,174,790$            
Card services fees and commission 3,257,566              3,036,715              
Credit services fees and commission 1,022,638              1,353,567              
Other fees and commission 591,199                 587,303                 
Total fees and commission income 8,397,147$            8,152,375$            
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20. Other operating income 

2019 2018

Foreign exchange 2,400,135$            2,297,768$            
Other 2,224,384              927,775                 
Total other operating income 4,624,519$            3,225,543$            
 

21. Operating expenses 

2019 2018

Staff costs (Note 25) 15,831,496$              15,803,695$              
Other administrative expenses (Note 22) 8,375,290                  1,751,126                  
Licenses and other fees 4,376,251                  4,256,921                  
Occupancy (Note 23) 3,306,995                  3,293,841                  
Information technology 2,550,759                  2,246,874                  
Advertising, marketing and donations 400,921                     401,233                     
Telecommunication and postage 348,601                     338,415                     
Travel and entertainment 216,278                     211,595                     
Operating expenses 35,406,591$              28,303,700$              

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 10) 391,520$                   1,113,718$                
Amortisation of software (Note 11) 311,794                     268,370                     
Depreciation and amortisation 703,314                     1,382,088                  

Total operating expenses 36,109,905$              29,685,788$              
 

22. Contingencies 

To meet the financial needs of customers, the Bank enters into various irrevocable 
commitments and contingent liabilities. These consist of financial guarantees, letters of credit 
and other undrawn commitments to lend. Letters of credit and guarantees (including standby 
letters of credit) commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a 
specific act.  
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22. Contingencies (continued) 

Legal claims 

Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business 
undertaken. As a result of the litigation risk inherent in its operations, the Bank is involved in 
various litigation proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. The Bank has internal 
and external legal counsel, and formal controls and policies for managing legal claims. With 
the benefit of professional legal advice, the Bank makes adjustments to account for any 
adverse effects which the claims may have on its financial standing and/or discloses amounts 
in accordance with its accounting policies. 

As at year end, the Bank had several unresolved legal claims. Various legal proceedings are 
pending that challenge certain actions of the Bank.  Most of these proceedings are loan-
related and are reactions to steps taken by the Bank to collect delinquent loans and enforce its 
rights against collateral securing such loans. During the last quarter of the fiscal year, the 
Bank was made aware of a significant legal claim against the Bank in respect of a judgment 
in default and related damages of approximately $6 million plus interest and cost. The Bank 
has filed the necessary applications to set aside the default judgment and to set aside the said 
damages. The Bank has also filed papers to stay the enforcement of damages and in certain 
circumstances to strike out enforcement steps.  Management considers that adequate 
provision has been made in these financial statements, included in other administrative 
expenses (Note 21) and accounts payable (Note 14), for any loss that might ultimately be 
determined. 

23. Commitments 

The approximate minimum rental commitments (exclusive of the effect of escalation clauses 
relating to taxes, maintenance, etc.) under operating leases for the years ended June 30, 2019 
and 2018 are as follows: 

2019 2018

No later than 1 year 566,398$                        213,190$                        
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 335,366                          492,692                          
Total 901,764$                        705,882$                        
 
Rental expense (including service charges) totaled $1,617,246 (2018: $1,713,276) and is 
included in occupancy costs within operating expenses (Note 21). 

Certain leases contain renewal options for the next 5 years.  

The commitments for loans and advances at June 30, 2019 were $4,598,154 (2018: 
$4,670,352). 

The Bank has a commitment for future capital expenditure of $5,351,405 (2018: Nil). 

The Bank has letters of credit and guarantees outstanding of $1,260,503 (2018: $1,205,503). 
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24. Transactions and balances with related parties  

All loans to related parties are secured in the regular course of business; allowance for 
impairment loss against any of these balances as at June 30, 2019 amounted to $133,396 
(2018: Nil).   

Other 
Government Key Total Total

Government Entities Management 2019 2018
Assets
Deposits with the Central Bank (Note 5) -$                         56,085,520$            -$                         56,085,520$            102,391,638$          
Treasury bills (Note 5) 49,917,360              -                           -                           49,917,360              56,726,814              
Investment securities (Note 6) 98,074,820              -                           -                           98,074,820              62,475,000              
Loans and advances to customers 9,122,065                2,475,000                2,776,878                14,373,943              4,456,939                
Notes receivable (Note 12) -                           167,626,500            -                           167,626,500            167,700,000            
Other assets 1,476,469                2,566,500                -                           4,042,969                5,590,353                

Liabilities
Deposits from customers and banks 86,812,192$            136,461,551$          777,196$                 224,050,939$          242,325,099$          
Other liabilities 11,464,490              2,286,622                25,500                     13,776,612              12,693,980              
Deferred loan fees 20,268                     -                           -                           20,268                     -                           

Revenues
Interest Income 3,761,242$              5,926,586$              117,524$                 9,805,352$              8,888,395$              
Fees and commission income 1,198,455                162,442                   -                           1,360,897                1,734,301                
Total 4,959,697$              6,089,028$              117,524$                 11,166,249$            10,622,696$            

Expenses
Interest Expense 573,450$                 2,777,872$              10,674$                   3,361,996$              4,039,494$              
Directors fees -                           -                           131,750                   131,750                   94,833                     
Other operating expenses 3,209,253                1,765,747                -                           4,975,000                3,982,513                
Short-term employee benefits -                           -                           2,102,180                2,102,180                1,626,507                
Pension expense -                           -                           84,186                     84,186                     84,494                     
Termination benefits -                           -                           90,680                     90,680                     468,453                   
Total 3,782,703$              4,543,619$              2,419,470$              10,745,792$            10,296,294$            
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25. Employee benefits 

The Bank has a defined contribution plan (the “Plan”) in which eligible employees (those 
having attained 18 years of age and employed on a full-time basis for a continuous period of 
twelve months) contribute a minimum of 3.50% of their annual salaries and the Bank 
contributes 6.50%.  Employees become fully vested after 5 years of plan membership.  The 
plan assets are managed by an independent third-party investment manager. Contributions for 
the year ended June 30, 2019 totaled $569,191 (2018: $601,640) recorded as staff costs (Note 
21). 

During the year, the Plan revised its investment strategy and fully employed a low risk and 
conservative bond fund.  

As at June 30, 2019, the Plan owns Nil (2018: 44,227) shares of the Bank. The holdings 
represent approximately Nil (2018: 0.73%) of the Plan’s net assets. 

As at June 30, 2019, the Plan has deposits totaling $104,852 (2018: $169,118) with the Bank. 

The assets of the Plan are managed by Trustees that are independent of the Bank. 
 

26. Assets under administration 

The Bank has assets under administration for clients in the Bank’s fiduciary capacity as 
follows: 
 

2019 2018

Government guaranteed student education loans (Note 32) 56,899,718$                   60,268,669$                   

Government guaranteed hurricane relief loans 24,177,971$                   34,215,703$                   

Trust assets (Note 32) 102,912,472$                 102,274,759$                 
 
 
The Bank recognised fees totaling $162,442 (2018: $167,838) for the administration of the 
Government Guaranteed Student Loans program and $844,248 (2018: $1,162,757) for the 
administration of the Government Guaranteed Hurricane Relief Loans program.  
 

27. Dividends and (loss)/earnings per share 

Dividends to the Bank’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the period in which they 
are declared by the Board of Directors and approved by the Bank’s Regulator.  In December 
2018, outstanding preference shares dividends of $1,546,250 was declared and paid, while 
the remaining outstanding preference shares dividends of $1,634,802 was declared as at 
March 31, 2019 and fully paid in May 2019. The Bank paid no dividends to common 
shareholders during the reporting years.  
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27. Dividends and (loss)/earnings per share (continued) 

2019 2018

Net income attributable to equity shareholders 2,910,259$                     1,598,066$                     
Preference share dividends (3,181,052)                      -                                  
Net (loss)/income attributable to ordinary shareholders (270,793)$                       1,598,066$                     

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 42,959,494                     42,959,494                     

Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share (0.01)$                             0.04$                              

 
28. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The best evidence of fair value 
is quoted price in an active market.  

IFRS 13 requires that the classification of financial instruments at fair value be determined by 
reference to the source of inputs used to derive the fair value. This classification uses the 
following three-level hierarchy: 

• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date. This level includes listed equity 
securities and debt instruments on exchanges.  

• Level 2 – Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) 
or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: 
quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical 
or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation 
techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market 
data. 

• Level 3 – Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category 
includes all instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on 
observable data and unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s 
valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for 
similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are 
required to reflect differences between the instruments. 

As of June 30, 2018 the Bank held equity securities as available-for-sale totaling $2,046,278 
classified as Level 1 investment.  All other available-for-sale investments totaling 
$48,884,400 were classified as Level 2. As of June 30, 2019 the Bank held equity securities 
as FVOCI totaling $2,735,148 classified as Level 1 investment.  No transfers were made 
during the year for any investments between the hierarchies. Investment property has been 
classified as Level 3 (Note 8). 
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28. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

The following methods and assumptions have been used in determining fair value: 

Cash and cash equivalents, other assets and other liabilities 

Due to their short-term maturity, the carrying values of these financial instruments 
approximate their fair values. 

Investment securities 

The estimated fair values of the Bank’s investments are determined based on quoted market 
prices, when available.  If quoted market prices are not available, management’s best estimate 
of the fair value is based on significant market observable inputs disclosed in Note 6. 

Loan and advances to customers 

Loans and advances to customers bear interest at floating rates tied to the Bahamian dollar 
prime rate and are therefore subject to re-pricing within a short period of time. As such, fair 
values are assumed to be equal to their carrying values and are disclosed in Note 7. 

Deposits from customers 

The estimated fair values of deposits from customers were determined by valuing the deposits 
based on current market interest rates relative to the Bank’s interest rates. The fair values of 
deposit from customers approximate their carrying values. 

Investment property 

The fair value of investment property was determined by external, independent property 
valuers, having appropriate recognized professional qualifications and recent experience in 
the location and category of the property being valued. The independent valuers provide the 
fair values of the Bank’s investment property portfolio every three years.  

The fair value measurements for all of the investment properties have been categorized as 
Level 3 fair value measurements.The estimated fair value of investment property is based on 
an appraisal by a local real estate appraiser as at June 30, 2017 and as determined by 
management at June 30, 2019.  The fair value of investment property reflects the market 
conditions at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The valuation model used the Sales Comparison Approach to estimate the Market Value of 
the subject site. The model considered three comparable transactions (“Comparables”) which 
were adjusted for the sales price for differences in location and size.  

As at June 30, 2017, Management recorded the investment property at the appraised value of 
$6,463,000 ($1.15 million per acre). Additionally, given that the value as of June 28, 2017 
was greater than the carrying value of the investment property, 
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29. Regulatory capital 

The Central Bank requires that the Bank maintains a ratio of total regulatory capital to 
risk-weighted assets at a minimum of 18% (2018:18%). The Bank’s capital ratio for 2019 
was 42.4% (2018: 45.1%)  

Capital regulatory requirements for subsidiary companies are managed through the Bank. 
The Bank’s strategy is unchanged from 2018. The Bank maintains an actively managed 
capital base to cover risks inherent in the business.  The adequacy of the Bank’s capital is 
monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established by The Central 
Bank. As at June 30, 2019, the Bank was compliant with all of the externally imposed capital 
ratio requirements.   

Capital risk management 

The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management are to comply with externally 
imposed capital requirements, maintain strong capital ratios to support its business and to 
maximize shareholders’ value.   

The Bank typically manages its capital structure and adjusts it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities.  In order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Bank may adjust the amount of dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities.  

The capital structure is designed to provide optimal risk absorption consistent with the risk 
profile of the Bank’s consolidated statement of financial position. The capital mix is intended 
to maximize the return for shareholders.  The Bank utilizes a balance of equity and debt 
issuances to achieve an ideal capital structure. 
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29. Regulatory capital (continued) 

Capital risk management (continued) 

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the capital structure of the Bank consists of equity held by 
common shareholders, including issued capital, share premium, preference shares, special 
retained earnings and accumulated deficit.  Ongoing capital management includes the 
payment of dividends, common share issuances, redemption of preferences shares, 
maintenance of reserves and special retained earnings. 

In ($000s) 2019 2018

Tier 1 capital 158,979$                156,040$             
Tier 2 capital 2,512                      20,522                 
Total capital 161,491$                176,562$             

Risk weighted assets 380,638$                391,468$             

CET1 must be at least 9.6% of total Risk Weighted Assets 41.8% 39.9%
Total Tier 1 Capital must be at least 12.8% of total Risk Weighted Assets 41.8% 39.9%
Total Capital must be at least 18.0% of total Risk Weighted Assets 42.4% 45.1%
CET1 must be at least 75% of total Tier 1 Capital 100.0% 100.0%
Total Tier 1 Capital must be a minimum of 75% of Total Capital 98.4% 88.4%
 
 
Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which comprises share capital, reserves less 
intangible assets and treasury shares, special retained earnings and accumulated deficit 
including current year’s financial results.  The other component of regulatory capital is Tier 2 
capital, which comprises long term debt, revaluation reserves on available-for-sale securities 
and general provisions. Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) comprises of common share capital, 
share premium, special retained earnings, accumulated deficit, accumulated other 
comprehensive income and other disclosed reserves. 
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30. Risk management 

There are a number of risks inherent in banking that the Bank manages on an ongoing basis.  
Among these risks, the more significant are credit, operational, currency, liquidity, capital 
and interest rate risks. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the failure of a counterparty to perform according to the terms of the 
contract.  From this perspective, the Bank’s significant exposure to credit risk is primarily 
concentrated in cash and due from banks, investments, notes receivable and loans.  Cash, due 
from banks and investments are predominantly in Bahamian and United States dollars and 
have been placed with high quality institutions.  The Bank maintains deposits in foreign 
currencies with top rated correspondent banks in the United States, Canada and the United 
Kingdom.   

The Bank evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to the note receivable as low, as the 
interest and principal sum is payable by Bahamas Resolve Limited (“Resolve”), which is a 
company wholly owned and controlled by the Government. Accordingly, the Bank evaluates 
the concentration of risk with respect to the Government loan as low, as the interest and 
principal sum is payable by the Government. An impairment analysis is performed at each 
reporting date by assessing the Government’s ability to make the interest payments due on 
the Note, given that the Government has undertaken to support Resolve, as more fully 
described in Note 12.  

Credit risk arising from loans is mitigated through the employment of a credit risk 
management regime that sets limits for sector concentration, as well as single and related 
party exposure.  The Board of Directors approves credit granting limits.  In addition, the 
credit policies provide for credit facilities to be reviewed regularly by the Bank’s credit risk 
management department, internal audit department and annual review by credit officers.  
Most of the Bank’s loans are collateralized and guaranteed, thus providing further mitigation 
of credit risk. 

The Bank assesses credit exposure on loans by utilizing risk ratings. The ratings are 
categorized into a variety of segments such as minimal risk, moderate risk, high risk and non-
performing.  The purpose of credit rating is to provide a simple, but effective and ongoing 
system of credit risk gradation by which relative credit worthiness of borrowers may be 
identified and accordingly the level of credit enhancements, degree of monitoring, frequency 
of reviews, level of provisioning, and pricing can be determined.  The credit rating would 
reflect both the likelihood of default and the potential extent of loss given default.   

The credit worthiness of most borrowers is not constant over time.  For this reason, changes 
in ratings must reflect changes in the relative strength of the borrowers and in their 
obligations.  Appropriate credit ratings must be assigned to every borrowing relationship.  A 
rating must be assigned at the time of credit extension and reviewed and updated in each 
periodic review or if the situation warrants a change at any other time.   
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

A rating change highlights a change in the credit worthiness or corrects a previous rating that 
did not fully reflect the quality of the credit.  Because of their very nature, changes are to be 
expected more frequently among credits with lower ratings than among credits of higher 
ratings.  Typically loans within the retail credit portfolio which are performing are not 
assessed for changes in ratings, unless the customer approaches the Bank for additional 
credit. 

The assigning of a risk rating calls for professional judgment and can involve subjective 
elements.  When a credit rating is assigned, all relevant information concerning the risk 
profile of the borrower is considered, including but not limited to, industry trends, economic 
climate, business environment and earnings track record.  Consideration is given to much less 
quantifiable items such as opinion of management, perception of trustworthiness and 
character, hidden reserves and other factors. 

The Bank conducts an impairment assessment on each of its loans.  The main considerations 
for the loan impairment assessment include whether any payments of principal or interest are 
overdue or there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of counterparties, credit rating 
downgrades, or infringement of the original terms of the contract.  The Bank addresses 
impairment on an individual and portfolio basis.  In managing credit risk, the Bank takes a 
holistic approach in assessing its impact and implications from a regulatory standpoint and 
potential consequences for liquidity and its capital. 

Concentration of risks and financial assets with credit risk exposure are as follows: 
 

In ($000s) 2019 2018
  

Cash, cash equivalent and due from banks
Neither past due nor impaired 181,128$               223,943$               

Investment securities
Neither past due nor impaired 100,810$               64,521$                 

Loans and advances to customers
Neither past due nor impaired 280,991$               243,342$               
Past due but not impaired 35,889                   64,041                   
Impaired 87,332                   101,648                 

404,212$               409,031$               

Notes receivable
Neither past due nor impaired 167,627$               167,700$               
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Financial assets are past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when 
contractually due. 

Expected Credit Loss Measurement  
 
ECL is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or Lifetime basis depending on whether a 
significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset 
is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted product of 
PD, EAD, and LGD, defined as follows: 

• The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial 
obligation, either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining 
lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. 

• EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects to be owed at the time of 
default, over the next 12 months (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime 
(Lifetime EAD). For example, for a revolving commitment, the Bank includes 
the current drawn balance plus any further amount that is expected to be drawn 
up to the current contractual limit by the time of default, should it occur. 

• LGD represents the Bank's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted 
exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and 
availability of collateral or other credit support. LGD is expressed as a percentage 
loss per unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12-
month or lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected 
to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months and Lifetime LGD is the 
percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs over the remaining 
expected lifetime of the loan. 

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and 
for each individual exposure or collective segment. These three components are 
multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has not 
prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each 
future month, which is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The 
discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate or an 
approximation thereof. 
 
The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. 
The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of 
initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity profile is based on 
historical observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a 
portfolio and credit grade band. This is supported by historical analysis. 
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Expected Credit Loss Measurement (continued) 
 

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, 
which varies by product type. The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on 
the factors which impact the recoveries made post default. These vary by product type. 

The Bank uses a Point-in-Time (“PIT”) analysis while having regard to historical loss data 
and forward looking macro-economic data.  

Incorporation of forward-looking information 

The Bank incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the 
credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the 
measurement of ECL. The Bank has performed historical analysis and identified the key 
economic variables impacting credit risk d expected credit losses for each portfolio. The 
Bank formulates three economic scenarios (base case, best case and worst case). Once an 
ECL calculation has been developed for each scenario, a weight is applied to each estimate 
based on the likelihood of occurrence to arrive at a final weighted ECL.  

The weighting assigned to each economic scenario as at July 1, 2018 was as follows: 

Base scenario
Upside 

scenario
Downside 
scenario

Sovereign exposures (Investments and Notes Receivable) 80.00% 10.00% 10.00%
Loans and advances to customers 80.00% 8.85% 11.15%

 
The weighting assigned to each economic scenario as at June 30, 2019 was as follows: 

Base scenario
Upside 

scenario
Downside 
scenario

Sovereign exposures (Investments and Notes Receivable) 80.00% 10.00% 10.00%
Loans and advances to customers 80.00% 9.78% 10.22%
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk  

For financial assets recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position, the 
exposure to credit risk equals their carrying amount. For standby letters of credit, the 
maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount that the Bank would have to pay if 
the standby letters of credit are called upon. For mortgage commitments and revolving credit 
lines that are irrevocable over the life of the respective facilities, the maximum exposure to 
credit risk is the full amount of the committed facilities. The following table contains an 
analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial assets for which an ECL allowance is 
recognised. The gross carrying amount of the financial assets represents the Bank’s maximum 
exposure to the credit risk of these assets. 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Total 
2019

Total 
2018

Loans and accrued interest receivable 259,009,745$   57,286,038$     86,279,512$     402,575,295$   413,609,793$   
Business and personal overdrafts 397,633            486,880            999,466            1,883,979         2,191,044         
Credit cards 632,813            542,348            52,593              1,227,754         1,338,235         

260,040,191     58,315,266       87,331,571       405,687,028     417,139,072     

Notes receivable 167,700,000$   -$                  -$                  167,700,000$   167,700,000$   

Investment securities 98,101,320$     -$                  -$                  98,101,320$     62,475,000$     

Transfers between Stages  

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether the credit risk on its financial assets has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. The assessment of whether an asset is in 
Stage 1 or 2 considers the relative change in the probability of default occurring over the 
expected life of the instrument and is not assessed based on the change in the amount of the 
expected credit losses. This involves setting quantitative tests combined with additional 
indicators such as credit risk classification and other observable inputs.  

Transfers between Stages 1 and 2 are based on the assessment of significant increases in 
credit risk relative to initial recognition. The impact of moving from 12-month expected 
credit losses to lifetime expected credit losses, or vice versa, varies by portfolio and is 
dependent on the expected remaining life at the date of the transfer. Stage transfers may result 
in significant fluctuations in the Bank’s expected credit losses. 

Movement in Impairment Allowances by Stage  

The impairment allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, 
including but not limited to:  

• Transfers between Stage 1 and 2 or 3 due to financial assets experiencing significant 
increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the 
consequent “step up” (or “step down”) between 12-month and lifetime ECL;  
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

• Additional allowances for new financial assets recognised during the period, as well as 
releases for financial assets derecognised in the period; 

• Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs, and LGDs in the period, 
arising from regular refreshing of inputs to the model;  

• Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions; and  

• Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to the 
assets that were written off during the period.  

The following table explains the changes in the impairment allowance by portfolio between 
the beginning and the end of the annual period due to these factors. 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 2019 2018

Investment securities at amortised cost:
Gross carrying amount 98,101,320$       -$                  -$                  98,101,320$       62,475,000$      
Loss allowance (26,500)              -                    -                    (26,500)              -                     
Carrying amount 98,074,820$       -$                  -$                  98,074,820$       62,475,000$      

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 2019

Investment securities at amortised cost:
Loss Allowance as at July 1, 2018 26,500                -                    -                    26,500                
Transfers:
       Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 -                      -                    -                    -                     
       Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 -                      -                    -                    -                     
       Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 -                      -                    -                    -                     
       Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -                      -                    -                    -                     
       Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 -                      -                    -                    -                     
       Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -                      -                    -                    -                     
New financial assets originated or purchased 16,907                -                    -                    16,907                
Financial assets fully derecognized during the period (20,436)              -                    -                    (20,436)              
Changes to inputs used in ECL calculation 3,529                  -                    -                    3,529                  
Foreign exchange adjustment -                      -                    -                    -                     
Loss Allowance as at June 30, 2019 26,500$              -$                  -$                  26,500$              
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 2019

Investment securities at amortised cost:
Gross carrying amount as at July 1, 2018 62,475,000         -                    -                    62,475,000         
Transfers:
       Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 -                      -                    -                    -                     
       Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 -                      -                    -                    -                     
       Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 -                      -                    -                    -                     
       Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -                      -                    -                    -                     
       Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 -                      -                    -                    -                     
       Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -                      -                    -                    -                     
New financial assets originated or purchased 98,385,330         -                    -                    98,385,330         
Financial assets fully derecognized during the period (50,779,819)       -                    -                    (50,779,819)       
Changes in principal and interest (11,979,191)       -                    -                    (11,979,191)       
Foreign exchange adjustment -                      -                    -                    -                     
Gross carrying amount as at June 30, 2019 98,101,320$       -$                  -$                  98,101,320$       

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 2019 2018

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost:
Gross carrying amount 260,040,191$       58,315,266$       87,331,571$       405,687,028$     417,139,072$     
Loss allowance (4,441,950)            (3,842,090)          (53,221,894)        (61,505,934)       (65,649,984)        
Carrying amount 255,598,241$       54,473,176$       34,109,677$       344,181,094$     351,489,088$     
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 2019

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost:
Loss Allowance as at July 1, 2018 7,385,853             5,071,637           54,284,161         66,741,651         
Transfers:
       Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (2,594,965)            2,594,965           -                      -                      
       Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (615,976)               -                      615,976              -                      
       Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 1,519,848             (1,519,848)          -                      -                      
       Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -                        (769,552)             769,552              -                      
       Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 213,213                -                      (213,213)             -                      
       Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -                        327,959              (327,959)             -                      
New financial assets originated or purchased 1,030,864             148,159              98,039                1,277,062           
Financial assets fully derecognized during the period (446,580)               (2,210,335)          (8,751,436)          (11,408,351)       
Changes to inputs used in ECL calculation (2,050,307)            199,105              6,746,774           4,895,572           
Foreign exchange adjustment -                        -                      -                      -                      
Loss Allowance as at June 30, 2019 4,441,950$           3,842,090$         53,221,894$       61,505,934$       

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 2019

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost:
Gross carrying amount as at July 1, 2018 260,865,488         59,266,407         97,007,177         417,139,072       
Transfers:
       Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (33,606,917)          33,606,917         -                      -                      
       Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (5,752,257)            -                      5,752,257           -                      
       Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 12,388,517           (12,388,517)        -                      -                      
       Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -                        (3,942,086)          3,942,086           -                      
       Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 558,913                -                      (558,913)             -                      
       Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -                        941,464              (941,464)             -                      
New financial assets originated or purchased 59,902,881           9,588,626           522,248              70,013,755         
Financial assets fully derecognized during the period (27,698,092)          (25,597,974)        (15,853,531)        (69,149,597)       
Changes in principal and interest (6,618,342)            (3,159,573)          (2,538,288)          (12,316,202)       
Foreign exchange adjustment -                        -                      -                      -                      
Gross carrying amount as at June 30, 2019 260,040,191$       58,315,265$       87,331,572$       405,687,028$     
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

ECL sensitivity analysis 

Set out below are changes to the Bank’s ECL as at June 30, 2019 that would result from 
reasonably possible changes in these parameters from the actual assumptions used by the 
Bank as key ECL drivers. 

Collateral haircut
 Change in 
threshold  

 Increase in ECL 
allowance

 Decrease in ECL 
allowance

    Loans and advances to customers  ( +/- 5)% 3,731,660         3,524,943           

 ECL Impact of 
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Foreign exchange risk 

The Bank holds assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than Bahamian dollars, 
the measurement currency of the Bank.  Consequently, the Bank is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk since the values of the assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies 
will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates.  The Bank manages these positions by 
matching assets with liabilities wherever possible.  The table below summarizes the Bank’s 
exposure to foreign currency exchange risk at June 30, 2019 and 2018.  Included in the table 
are the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorized by currency. 

Concentrations of currency risk  

2019
In ($000s) B$ US$ CAD$ GBP£ Other Total
Assets
   Cash, cash equivalent and Central Bank balances 112,437$                 67,092$                     310$                       1$                        1,288$                181,128$           
   Financial assets - FVOCI -                          2,735                         -                         -                      -                      2,735                 
   Financial assets - held to collect 98,075                     -                            -                         -                      -                      98,075               
   Loans and advances, net 339,131                   5,050                         -                         -                      -                      344,181             
   Notes receivable 167,627                   -                            -                         -                      -                      167,627             
Total financial assets 717,270$                 74,877$                     310$                       1$                        1,288$                793,746$           

Liabilities
   Deposits from customers and banks 588,452$                 26,803$                     205$                       21$                      372$                   615,853$           
   Cheques and other items in transit 5,542                       1,218                         118                         86                        2                         6,966                 
Total financial liabilities 593,994$                 28,021$                     323$                       107$                    374$                   622,819$           

Net financial position 123,276$                 46,856$                     (13)$                       (106)$                  914$                   170,927$           

2018
In ($000s) B$ US$ CAD$ GBP£ Other Total

Total financial assets 736,882$                 69,054$                     486$                       3$                        1,228$                807,653$           
Total financial liabilities 598,592                   32,497                       492                         110                      380                     632,071             
Net financial position 138,290$                 36,557$                     (6)$                         (107)$                  848$                   175,582$           
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30. Risk management (continued) 

Operational risk 

Operational risk relates to the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed 
internal processes, people and systems or from external events.  It is mitigated by 
documented policies and procedures, staff training and a risk-based internal audit regime. 

Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk is the potential for a negative impact on the consolidated statement of 
financial position and/or consolidated statement of comprehensive income or loss and other 
comprehensive income arising from adverse changes in the value of financial instruments as a 
result of changes in interest rates. 
 
Interest rate sensitivity or interest rate risk results from differences in the maturities or re-
pricing dates of assets and liabilities.  Interest rate risk exposures or “gaps” may produce 
favorable or unfavorable effects on interest margins depending on the nature of the gap and 
the direction of interest rate movement and/or the expected volatility of those interest rates.  
Interest rate gaps are carefully monitored, and scenario tests are performed to determine the 
potential impact of various gap exposures. When assets have a shorter average maturity than 
liabilities, an increase in interest rates would have a positive impact on net interest margins, 
and conversely, if more liabilities than assets mature or are repriced in a particular time 
interval then a negative impact on net interest margin would result. The consolidated gap 
position shows more assets than liabilities repriced in periods greater than one year. This is a 
typical position for a financial institution with a large personal customer base. 

The Bank analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis.  Various scenarios are 
simulated taking into consideration changes in interest rates.  Based on these scenarios, the 
Bank calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate shift.  For each 
simulation, the same interest rate shift is used for all currencies.  Based on the simulations 
performed, the impact on net income and consequently shareholders’ equity of a 100-basis 
point shift would be a maximum increase or decrease of $1.7 million (2018: $1.8 million). 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the potential for loss if the Bank is unable to meet financial commitments in 
a timely manner at reasonable prices as they fall due. Financial commitments include 
liabilities to depositors and suppliers, and lending, pledging and investment commitments. 
Managing liquidity and funding risk is essential to maintaining both depositor confidence and 
stability in earnings.  

The Bank maintains a portion of its deposits in cash and other liquid assets to mitigate this 
risk.  On a daily basis, the Bank monitors its cash and other liquid assets to check that they 
sufficiently meet the Bank’s requirements.  In addition, the Bank performs regular gap 
analyses showing the maturity exposure arising from the different maturity of assets and 
liabilities.  As is the case throughout the sector, those gap analyses show that the Bank is 
liability-sensitive in the short term.  Regular scenario tests are performed to determine the 
extent to which the Bank can withstand unforeseen withdrawals and the cost associated with 
meeting such demands should they arise. 
 



BANK OF THE BAHAMAS LIMITED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended June 30, 2019  
(Expressed in Bahamian Dollars) 
 
 

72 

30. Risk management (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
The following tables summarize the carrying amount of consolidated financial assets and 
liabilities of the Bank into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date.  The actual 
maturity dates could be significantly different from the amounts in the table. 
 

2019
Within 3-12 1-5 Over 5

In ($000s) 3 months months years years Total

Cash and cash equivalents 181,128$                 -$                         -$                         -$                         181,128$                 
Investment securities 20,247                     36,016                     20,006                     24,541                     100,810                   
Loans and advances to customers, net 20,771                     5,135                       48,079                     270,196                   344,181                   
Notes receivable -                           -                           -                           167,627                   167,627                   
Total financial assets 222,146$                 41,151$                   68,085$                   462,364$                 793,746$                 

2019
Within 3-12 1-5 Over 5

In ($000s) 3 months months years years Total

Deposits from customers and banks 443,332$                 117,241$                 32,713$                   22,567$                   615,853$                 
Cheques and other items in transit 6,966                       -                           -                           -                           6,966                       
Total financial liabilities 450,298$                 117,241$                 32,713$                   22,567$                   622,819$                 

Net position (228,152)$                (76,090)$                  35,372$                   439,797$                 170,927$                 

2018
Within 3-12 1-5 Over 5

In ($000s) 3 months months years years Total

Total financial assets 256,707$                 13,313$                   29,255$                   508,378$                 807,653$                 
Total financial liabilities 449,704                   116,080                   40,906                     25,381                     632,071                   
Net position (192,997)$                (102,767)$                (11,651)$                  482,997$                 175,582$                 
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31. Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries of the Bank as at June 30, 2019 are as follows: 
 

Place of
Name Incorporation Shareholding Nature of business
Multi-Card Services Ltd. Commonwealth of The Bahamas 100% Card processing and services
West Bay Property Holdings Ltd. Commonwealth of The Bahamas 100% Investment Property
Bank of The Bahamas Trust Ltd. Commonwealth of The Bahamas 100% Trust Company
BAHTCO Holdings Ltd. Commonwealth of The Bahamas 100% Nominee Holding Company
BOB Property Holdings Commonwealth of The Bahamas 100% Property Holding
 
 

32. Subsequent events 
 
Subsequent to June 30, 2019, the Bank began to discontinue its administration of the 
government guaranteed student education loans (Note 26).   
 
On July 31, 2019, the Bank signed the agreement for the sale of its Trust portfolio (Note 26). 
 
On September 1 to September 3, 2019, the family islands of Abaco and Grand Bahama were 
significantly affected by a category 5 hurricane. The Bank has one branch in Grand Bahama.  
 
In the aftermath of the hurricane and to ensure that customers and employees have access to 
credit for relief purposes, the Central Bank of The Bahamas has temporarily relaxed lending 
guidelines to all domestic banks as at September 3, 2019. As a result, the Bank launched 
Hurricane Relief Plans for its customers and employees negatively impacted by the hurricane 
which commenced September 9, 2019, expiring October 30, 2019.  The Bank is assessing the 
impact of this hurricane to its credit portfolio.   
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